IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SEP 7 1983

SID J. WHITE

RIME OOURT

TOMMY S. GROOVER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 63,375

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GLENNA JOYCE REEVES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TOMMY S. GROOVER,	:	
Appellant,	:	
v.	:	CASE NO. 63,375
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
Appellee.	:	
	:	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, TOMMY S. GROOVER was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to as appellant. The State of Florida was the prosecuting authority, and will be referred to as the State or appellee.

The record on appeal consists of four volumes of pleadings, which will be referred to as "R", and twelve volumes of transcripts, consecutively numbered, which will be referred to as "T".

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

An indictment returned February 25, 1982, charged appellant with the first degree murders of Richard Padgett and Nancy Sheppard. (R-2-4). An amended indictment returned August 26, 1982, added as a third count the first degree murder of Jody Dawn Dalton. (R-33-35).

Due to a conflict of interest by the Office of the Public Defender, attorney Richard D. Nichols was appointed to represent appellant. (R-5). Pursuant to plea negotiations, it was agreed that in exchange for his testimony against Robert "Tinker" Parker and Elaine Parker concerning the

-1-

deaths of Richard Padgett, Nancy Sheppard, and Jody Dalton, appellant would be allowed to plead guilty to the first degree murder of Richard Padgett with the binding recommendation by the State of a sentence of life imprisonment. (R-129-131). Pursuant to those negotiations, appellant, on May 17, 1982, gave the State a sworn statement concerning his participation and knowledge of the three murders. (R-128-185). Prior to his statement, appellant acknowledged his understanding that if he went to trial, his statement might be introduced into evidence. (R-133-134-136-137, 130). May 18, 1982, appellant entered his negotiated plea of guilty to the first degree charge involving Richard Padgett, which was accepted by the trial court. (T-59-67, R-23-24, 437-438). Sentencing was deferred. (T-67, 75, 85, 86).

July 9, 1982, pursuant to notice of taking deposition filed by Robert L. Parker, appellant was deposed. (R-439-684).

August 12, 1982, because of a supposed lack of cooperation by appellant (R-314-318), court-appointed counsel Richard D. Nichols was allowed to withdraw as attorney of record, and Brent Shore was appointed in his stead. (T-87-92).

August 20, 1982, appellant filed a motion to withdraw plea of guilty. (R-29). At the hearing held that date, the State indicated the plea should be withdrawn since due to appellant's supposed lack of cooperation, the State did not intend to abide by the plea agreement. (T-93-101). Appellant's motion was granted. (T-100, R-30).

Appellant sought suppression of the May 17, 1982 statement, his July 9, 1982 deposition, as well as a statement given to Officer Pavelka on the ground that the statements were coerced and were also inadmissible since made "in connection with plea negotiations." (R-49-50, T-208-210). At the commencement

-2-

of the hearing, the State announced that it did not intend to introduce either the July deposition or the statement to Officer Pavelka in its case-in-chief. (T-133-134). Appellant, who can neither read nor write and who has only a ninth grade education, testified that he gave his May 17th statement because threatened by both Mr. Nichols and Assistant State Attorney Ralph N. Greene, III that unless given, he would receive the electric chair. (T-174-180). Mr. Nichols, Mr. Greene (who also served as the prosecuting attorney in this case), and Denny Haltiwanger, an investigator with the State Attorney's Office, denied coercing appellant to give the May 17th statement. (T-152-161, 168-170, 189-191). Mr. Greene admitted that the May 17th statement was "part and parcel" of the negotiations (T-193). Following arguments of counsel, the trial court, denied the motion to suppress. (T-208-221, R-117, 118-127).

Pretrial, the State served notice of its intent to offer evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts committed by appellant. (R-15-16, 20-21, 81-82, see also R-87). Appellant objected on the ground that such evidence was irrelevant. (T-449-451, 459-467). The trial judge ruled that the collateral crime evidence would be admissible. (T-467).

The State's theory was that Richard Padgett was killed between February 6 and 7, 1982 because of a drug debt owed to Robert "Tinker" Parker. Robert Parker, his former wife, Elaine, and appellant were each separately charged with this murder. According to the state's theory, Jody Dalton was subsequently killed because she had observed the disposal of the gun used in the Padgett homicide. Robert Parker, Elaine Parker, Joan E. Bennett, and appellant were initially charged with this homicide. According to the state, thereafter, since she had observed Richard Padgett with the Parkers and appellant, Nancy Sheppard was also killed. Robert Parker, Elaine Parker, Elaine Parker, William

-3-

(Billy) Long, and appellant were charged originally with this homicide.

The autopsy of Richard Padgett revealed that a single gunshot wound by a .22 caliber bullet was first inflicted to his head and thereafter several stab wounds were inflicted to his chest. Either the gunshot or the stab wounds would have been fatal. (T-664-669, 677). Nancy Sheppard's cause of death was gunshot wounds by .22 caliber bullets in the head and chest. Her body also exhibited seven non-fatal stab wounds. (T-672-678). It appeared that Richard Padgett had been dead four to ten hours longer than Nancy Sheppard. (T-679). The cause of death of Jody Dalton was multiple gunshot wounds of the head. (T-690-696).

Over objection, the May 17, 1982 statement of appellant was introduced at trial. (T-701-705, 711-761). In his statement, appellant indicated that February 4th or 5th, he gave drugs which belonged to Robert Parker to Richard Padgett and Morris Johnson. (T-712-714). Padgett and Johnson agreed to pay for the drugs later. (T-714). When Robert Parker learned of this, he became very angry at appellant. (T-715, 718, 721). On the morning of February 6th, Billy Long and appellant tried, unsuccessfully to locate Padgett and Johnson to collect money for the drugs. (T-718-720). That evening at the Sugar Shack lounge, appellant saw Richard Padgett, who agreed to accompany the Parkers, Billy Long, and appellant to Parker's house to make phone calls to obtain money. (T-720-722). Nancy Sheppard, Padgett's girlfriend, accompanied them to Parker's trailer. (T-722-723). After Padgett's unsuccessful attempts to get money, Billy Long drove Nancy Sheppard home while the others drove Padgett to other lounges in an effort to collect money. (T-723-728). The Parkers, Padgett, and appellant then went to Parker's junkyard where Robert. Parker forced appellant to fight with Richard Padgett. (T-728-731,

-4-

734-735). Robert Parker then indicated that they would drive and drop Padgett off somewhere. (T-731). While driving, Elaine Parker kept insisting that Richard Padgett had to be killed. (T-732-733). In the vicinity of Yellow Water Road, Robert Parker, armed with a gun, threatened to kill appellant unless he killed Padgett. With a .22 Smith and Wesson pistol handed to him by Elaine Parker, appellant shot Padgett several times in the head. (T-737-739). Robert Parker then stabbed Padgett. (T-739-740). After Parker had melted down the gun at the junkyard, the Parkers and appellant went to the Out of Sight Lounge, where they met Jody Dalton who insisted on going home with appellant. (T-740). On the way to the Parkers' trailer, appellant threw the melted gun into the river. (T-740-741). After doing some more dope, the Parkers and appellant left Jody Dalton at the trailer while they went to find Joan Bennett in order to learn where Nancy Sheppard lived, who the Parkers had agreed needed to be killed. (T-742-743). After Joan Bennett showed them where Nancy Sheppard lived, the group returned to the Parker trailer, where Robert Parker discovered that in their absence, Jody Dalton had used lots of Parker's drugs. (T-744). Everyone then got into Elaine's car and drove towards Donut Lake. (T-745). Joan Bennett began beating up Jody Dalton, and then either Joan or Robert Parker shot and killed Jody. (T-746-748, 751). Robert Parker then dumped her body in the lake after he had tied cement blocks to her. (T-748-751). After dropping Joan Bennett at her house, appellant and the Parkers then drove to Billy Long's house since Robert Parker wanted Long to kill Nancy Sheppard. (T-752-753). Later, Billy Long shot Nancy Sheppard in the head with a .22 pistol. (T-754-755, 758).

Clyde Morris Johnson testified that on February 5, 1982, he, Richard Padgett and appellant shot up with drugs. (T-928-934). When Robert Parker

-5-

arrived, he became very angry at appellant for owing him money and for using his drugs. (T-934-935). Richard Padgett agreed to meet appellant at the Sugar Shack later that night to pay him back in dope. (T-935). Mr. Johnson indicated that Robert Parker had a reputation of violence. (T-937-940).

Billy Long, who had been allowed to plead guilty to the lesser charge of second degree murder in exchange for his testimony against appellant, testified that on February 6th, he and appellant went to Johnson's house where appellant indicated he wanted to find Morris Johnson or Richard Padgett to collect money owed for drugs. (T-766-769, 778-779, 852-854). That evening, Billy Long drove appellant, Richard Padgett and Nancy Sheppard from the Sugar Shack to Robert Parker's trailer to see about some money that was owed. (T-779-781). While the others, at Parker's direction, remained in the trailer, Robert. Parker spoke with Richard Padgett outside. (T-782, 875). Long heard a gunshot, saw Parker place a gun back in his pant, and then, Parker and Padgett both returned to the trailer. (T-782). The group then returned to the Sugar Shack with Padgett and Sheppard in Long's car and appellant, Elaine, and Robert Parker in the Parkers' car. (T-789, 796). As Long left the bar to take Nancy Sheppard home, Padgett entered the Parker car. (T-797-798). Long testified that he did not hear appellant threaten Richard Padgett in any way and that he had never known appellant to be violent. (T-913-914).

Carl Barton, who lived adjacent to the Parker junkyard, testified during the night of February 6th, he was awakened by a disturbance outside his trailer. (T-948-952). Barton observed Robert. and Elaine Parker, and appellant standing over a man (later recognized as Richard Padgett) lying on the ground, who was indicating that if left alone, he could have \$100 to pay him. (T-953-956).

-6-

After Parker hollered to be let inside the trailer, Barton allowed the four to come inside. (T-957-960). As he was leaving the trailer, appellant obtained a pistol from one of the Parkers and made threatening remarks to Richard Padgett. (T-961-963).

Spencer Hance, who also lived near the Parker junkyard, related that in the early morning hours of February 7th, Robert Parker knocked on his door and asked that he dispose of a gun. (T-976-981). Robert Parker and appellant then used an arc welder to melt the gun, which was a blue steel .22 caliber revolver. (T-981-984, 986). Elaine Parker, who was seated in the car, told Hance that they had just killed somebody. (T-984-985). After the gun was melted, appellant and Parker entered Hance's house, checked each other for blood, washed off a knife in the sink, and then left. (T-987-991). Later that morning, appellant told Hance the gun had been thrown in the St. Johns River. (T-992). Hance indicated that Robert Parker carried a buck knife with him on a regular basis. (T-1008).

Joan Bennett, who had been allowed to plead guilty to the charge of accessory after the fact to murder, testified that in the early evening of February 6th, she saw Robert and Elaine Parker, Billy Long, and appellant at the Sugar Shack lounge. (T-1015-1020, 1048-1052). Robert Parker stated that he was tired of people "fucking around with his drugs" and that he was going to kill them. (T-1020). Around 2:30 a.m., Elaine Parker knocked at Bennett's trailer door and asked if she knew where Nancy Sheppard lived. (T-1023-1025). Bennett agreed to return to Elaine's trailer with Elaine, Robert Parker, and appellant to play pool. (T-1025). Jody Dalton was at the trailer when they arrived and was taking some Quaaludes belonging to Robert Parker. (T-1025-1027). Parker became angry at Jody, but appellant prevented him from hurting her. (T-1027, 1064-1065). After appellant and

-7-

Robert Parker returned from outside, appellant suggested that they all go to Donut Lake. (T-1065-1066, 1028-1029). On the way to the lake, at the instigation of Elaine Parker, Bennett and Jody Dalton became involved in a fight, but, according to Bennett, neither was seriously hurt. (T-1030-1031, 1070-1073). When they continued towards the lake, Bennett heard appellant tell Parker that "he had to waste Jody's ass" since "she knew about him throwing the piece away that he used on Richard." (T-1032). When they arrived at the lake, appellant and Jody engaged in oral sex, and then appellant, Robert Parker, and Jody exited the car. (T-1032-1033). Although she thought nothing of it, Bennett heard moans from behind the car. (T-1033-1034). Bennett then observed appellant dragging Jody, who was now naked, and kicking her. Appellant then pulled a gun from his boot and fired at least five shots at Jody. (T-1035-1037). Robert Parker and appellant then removed cement blocks and rope from the trunk, wrapped them around Jody, and both carried her body into the lake. (T-1038-1041). Over objection, Joan Bennett further testified that when they returned to the car, appellant threatened to kill her. (T-1041-1043).

Billy Long testified that around 7 a.m. February 7th, appellant, Robert Parker and Elaine Parker met him at his house asking that he go with them to Nancy Sheppard's house. (T-809-814). After Elaine went to her door, Nancy Sheppard got into the car with them. (T-814, see also T-1180-1185). After they had driven down a dirt road off Yellow Water Road, Robert Parker told Long to get out of the car. (T-815-816). After Long saw Richard Padgett lying in the ditch, Parker told Long that he had to kill Sheppard or else "you're going to lay in the ditch with him." (T-816-817). Robert Parker ordered Sheppard out of the car, and Elaine handed Long a gun stating "better

-8-

shoot her or he'll kill you too." (T-817). Because Long had previously been shot by Robert Parker and due to his violent reputation, he was afraid of Parker. (T-820-821, 881-884, 900, 906). Long then shot Sheppard twice in the back of the head and three times from the front, while Parker and appellant, who was in the car, hollered shoot her again. (T-817-819). Appellant then told Long to cut her throat. (T-819). Richard Parker then grabbed the knife and cut her throat. (T-819). After that, Parker removed a necklace and ring from her body. (T-822, 906).

Over objection (T-834-842), Long testified that after leaving the lake area, and after stopping by Joan Bennett's trailer, he, appellant and the Parkers drove to the apartment of Lewis Bradley where Hal Johns and Denise Long were staying. (T-834, 843). Robert Parker indicated, as did appellant, that Denise owed him money for drugs. (T-834, 844). Elaine pulled a pistol from her purse, which she gave to appellant. (T-845). After Robert Parker and appellant had been inside the house about five minutes, they came running out, with Lewis Bradley behind them. (T-845). Robert Parker told Long that while inside, he had to take the gun away from appellant "because he was going to kill Hal and Denise both." (T-845).

Denise Long testified that Robert Parker and appellant appeared at her door around 8 a.m. February 7th. (T-1164). Parker threatened her with a gun and demanded money. (T-1164-1165). Appellant then took the gun from Parker, pointed it at his step-brother, Hal Johns, and said "I'll shoot you, too." (T-1165). When Lewis and Barbara Bradley came out of the bedroom, appellant also pointed the gun at Lewis. (T-1166-1167). Lewis Bradley then ran outside, and appellant shouted to Parker, who now had the gun, "shoot him." (T-1168-1169).

-9-

At the close of the state's case, appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (T-1186-1190).

Although appellant admitted he was present during the three shootings, he denied any direct involvement in them. (T-1270-1274, 1280-1292, 1295-1301, 1306) Appellant testified that he was afraid that Robert Parker might kill him since he had threatened to hang him and to shoot him several times. (T-1267, 1274, 1297-1298, 1312-1315, 1368, 1370). Appellant indicated he gave the May 17th statement because of threats made to him by Mr. Greene. (T-1305-1306). Through cross-examination by Mr. Greene, appellant maintained that Greene had threatened him on May 17th. (T-1307-1311). Over objection, (T-1329-1340), the state repeatedly attempted to impeach appellant with statements made in his July 9, 1982 deposition. (T-1319-1322, 1340, 1345-1347, 1354-1355, 1359, 1361-1362, 1364-1365).

On rebuttal, Dennie Haltiwanger testified denying that any threats were made to appellant by Mr. Greene on May 17th. (T-1394-1410).

Over objection, Lewis Bradley testified that on the morning of February 7, 1982, appellant threatened him with a gun and told Robert Parker several times to shoot him. (T-1448-1450, 1456-1458).

Appellant's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (T-1459).

Over objection, the jury was instructed that first degree murder convictions could be returned on a felony-murder (kidnapping) theory as to Richard Padgett and a felony-murder (robbery) theory as to Nancy Sheppard. (T-1588, 1612, 1463).

The jury returned verdicts finding appellant guilty of first degree

-10-

murder as charged. (T-1614-1615, R-242-244).

At the commencement of the penalty phase, January 11, 1983, appellant was adjudicated guilty of the three counts. (T-1621). The State presented no testimony. (T-1623). Appellant's mother testified as to appellant's non-violent nature. (T-1624-1627).

The jury recommended sentences of life imprisonment for the murders of Richard Padgett and Nancy Sheppard, and a sentence of death for the murder of Jody Dalton. (T-1715-1719, R-252-254). The trial court sentenced appellant to death for the murders of Richard Padgett and Jody Dalton and to life imprisonment for the murder of Nancy Sheppard. (T-1747-1754, R-266-300, 431-432).

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (R-303). The Public Defender for the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to handle the appeal.

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY CONCERNING COLLATERAL OFFENSES TO BE INTRODUCED AT APPELLANT'S TRIAL WHERE THE COLLATERAL OFFENSES WERE NOT RELEVANT TO THE CRIMES CHARGED, AND, EVEN TO THE EXTENT RELE-VANT, WHERE SUCH TESTIMONY IMPROPERLY BECAME A FEATURE OF APPELLANT'S TRIAL, THEREBY DE-NYING HIM THE SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AS WELL AS HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

The general rule set forth in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.), cert. denied 361 U. S. 847 (1959), (<u>Williams</u> I), as codified in Section 90.404 (2), Florida Statutes (1981), is that similar fact evidence is admissible if relevant to a fact in issue even though it also points to the commission of a separate crime. Such evidence is inadmissible, however, if its sole relevancy is to establish bad character on the part of the accused or to show his propensity to commit crime. The rationale for this rule is that:

-11-

[T]he guilt or innocence of the accused should be established by the evidence relevant to the alleged offense being tried, not because the jury may believe the defendant to be a person of bad character or because he committed a similar offense.

<u>United States v. Taglione</u>, 546 F.2d 194, at 199 (5th Cir. 1977). <u>See also</u>, <u>Michelson v. United States</u>, 335 U.S. 459 (1948); <u>Panzavecchia v. Wainwright</u>, 658 F.2d 337 (5th Cir. 1981). Further, even if evidence of other crimes meets the relevancy test, considerations of due process and the right to a fair trial preclude the introduction of such evidence from becoming a feature, rather than an incident, of the trial. <u>Willams v. State</u>, 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960)(<u>Williams</u> II). <u>See also</u>, §90.403, Fla. Stat. (1981).

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