IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

OCT 27 1983

SID J. WHITE ERK SUPREME COURT

63,375

TOMMY S. GROOVER,) Appellant,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Appellee.)

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

CASE NO.:

Barbara Ann Butler Assistant Attorney General Suite 513 Duval County Courthouse Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 633-3117

Attorney for Appellee

THIS CASE INVOLVES A CAPITAL SENTENCE

TOPICAL

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

Florida law provides that an argument made for the first time on appeal cannot be considered unless it amounts to fundamental error. <u>De La Cova v. State</u>, 355 So.2d 1227, 1230 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). An argument raised on appeal but not presented to the trial court has not properly preserved for appellate review. <u>Pinder v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 272 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); <u>State v. Cumbie</u>, 380 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1980). <u>See also</u> <u>Williams v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1982). Under this line of cases, little of the evidence challenged in brief has been properly preserved for appellate review.

It is a well-settled legal proposition that testimony of a collateral offense relevant to show bad character or propensity is inadmissible. <u>Williams v. State; Owens v. State</u>, 361 So.2d 224, 225 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). However, as this Court stated in <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 265 So.2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1972) and re-emphasized in <u>Ruffin v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 277 (Fla. 1981) <u>rehearing denied</u>:

All evidence that points to a defendant's commission of a crime is prejudicial. The true test is relevancy.

<u>Id</u>. at 280. (T 466) Common examples of elements which similar fact evidence is relevant to prove include motive, intent, absence of mistake, common scheme or plan, identity, or a system or general pattern of criminality. <u>Williams I; Ruffin v. State; Ziegler v. State</u>, 404 So.2d 861, 862-3 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

Appellant conceeds that <u>some</u> of the similar fact evidence is relevant to motive, but maintains such evidence is so prejudicial that it and the narcotics involvement of Appellant and his accomplices became a feature of this trial. (See, initial brief, pp. 12-13,17) The State does not agree and submits the instant collateral crime evidence was not given undue emphasis. Here as in the recent case of <u>Washington v. State</u>, 432 So.2d 44, 47 (Fla. 1983), the probative value of the admitted evidence was not outweighed by prejudice to the accused.

In <u>Washington</u>, the defendant and two friends were attempting to find buyers for stolen guns. A deputy sheriff was present at one such sales pitch and followed Washington's accomplice as he returned to the vehicle. Identifying himself, the deputy asked for a driver's license. The vehicle's driver was unable to comply and was asked to

get out of the car. As he did so, Washington exited the backseat from the passenger side, walked around the rear of the vehicle, drew a .32 caliber chrome-plated pistol and ordered the deputy to freeze. As the deputy reached for his gun and a security officer reached for Washington, Washington fired four bullets into the deputy. Defendant Washington and his companions fled on foot leaving behind the car and the guns. Washington was apprehended a week later in North Carolina driving an automobile stolen in Daytona Beach, Florida. He was subsequently convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death. Id. at 46.

On appeal, Washington asserted claims identical to those advanced herein by Appellant. He maintained that evidence showing the guns were stolen was improper as was evidence indicating that after the murder he stole a car in Daytona Beach and that after his arrest he had escaped custody temporarily. <u>Id</u>. at 47. Upon review of the evidence in Washington's case, this Court deemed all challenged evidence relevant to the issues at trial:

> Evidence that the guns were stolen was relevant in showing appellant's motivation in shooting the deputy. . . . Evidence of the stolen automobile was relevant to show identity and flight. Flight from the vicinity of the crime is a fact from which guilt can be inferred. . . Evidence of the escape relevant to show guilty was a None of this collateral crime conscience. . . . evidence was given undue emphasis. Since its probative value was not outweighed by any improper prejudicial effect, the Court did not err in admitting it.

Id. at 47 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In Appellant's case, the evidence of Parker's prior assault with a firearm upon Billy Long was relevant to prove state of mind, motive, intent, a common scheme or plan, and a general pattern of criminality.

As stated, the argument advance in brief concerning collateral crimes by a third party was never raised below. Moreover in accordance with <u>Hirsch v. State</u>, 279 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1973) such evidence is not covered by the "Williams Rule."

Long testified to his participation in the Sheppard murder which he allegedly committed due to threats made to him by Tinker Parker.⁴ To Long, the threats had special meaning due to the 1980 incident. (T 812-833, 881-885, 900-903) Long testified that Appellant was in the car as he fired the shots into the back of the young woman's head, but nevertheless Appellant cheered him on by yelling: "Shoot her again, shoot her again. She's still breathin." (T 817, 898-899, 900-903) Appellant also urged Long to use a knife to cut Sheppard's throat after she'd been shot five times. (T 906-907).

matters within his personal first-hand Long testified to experience. In <u>Hirsch v.</u> State, the evidence deemed inadmissable in the defendant's perjury trial related to telephone communications by a party representing herself to be an unrelated third party. Also unlike the present case, the crime to which the evidence was directed in Hirsch was uncharged. Not so here, both Parker and Appellant were charged in the murders of Sheppard, Dalton, and Padgett; Long was charged in the Sheppard murder. Hence the facts of the murder as well as the reason for Long's participation were highly relevant. c.f. Whitted v. State, 362 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1978) (Sole purpose of testimony was to create impression in jury's mind that teacher's

⁴ Appellant emphasized Long's part in the Sheppard murder. (T 848-854) and Long's fear of Parker. (T 881-885, 900-903). Parker's threats to Long should be carefully reviewed and compared to the threats allegedly made by Parker to Appellant.

sexual activity with victim was the reason the defendant had also engaged in this conduct while at the teacher's home hours later).

Evidence of Appellant's threats to Joan Bennett following the Dalton murder were relevant to show identity,⁵ guilty conscience, pattern of criminal activity, motivation and intent. Likewise, the post-murder threats to Johns, Bradley and Denise Long were admissible for identical reasons.

Appellant was charged with each murder and faced a capital sentence for each. He admitted his physical presence, but at trial maintained non-participation.⁶ This position blatantly contradicted earlier statements to law enforcement authorities which were introduced at trial against Appellant. The State submits the evidence admitted was highly probative and relevant to the elements of the offenses which the prosecution was required to prove at trial. As such, the evidence was properly admitted and Appellant has failed to establish to the contrary.

Appellant claimed Parker committed the murder. (T1290-1295).

⁶ Apparently it was Appellant's steadfast refusal to testify truthfully concerning the Dalton murder for which he was not initially charged which resulted in the withdrawal of the guilty plea.

POINT II

APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY IMPROPER PROSECUTIONAL COMMENT MADE DURING ARGUMENT TO THE JURY.

ARGUMENT

Appellant maintains that he was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial by the "repeated inflammatory emotional and thoroughly improper arguments made by the prosecutor." (<u>See</u>, initial brief, point II, p. 18). He asserts seven grounds:

- 1) <u>Vituperative characterizations</u> (T 1510, 1516, 1514, 1518, 1520, 1521, 1532, 1655);
- Expressions of personal opinion concerning the credibility of witnesses. (T 1520, 1522, 1523, 1527, 1528, 1547, 1549);
- 3) Appeals by the prosecutor to the sympathy of the jury. (T 1511, 1513, 1550, 1635-1636, 1643-1644, 1646, 1654, 1659, 1660);
- 4) <u>Mistatement of the law concerning coercion or</u> duress as a defense. (T 1538-1541);
- 5) Grossly improper remarks concerning the role of defense counsel. (T 1658, 1551-1552);
- 6) <u>Prosecutor's encouragement to recommend</u> <u>death for its symbolic value only</u>. (T 1509, 1660-1661); and
- 7) Prosecutor's emotional appeal to enlist jurors in the war against crime.

(See initial brief, generally, point II, pp. 17-23).

A review of the record reflects Appellant failed to enter an objection to any of the aforementioned allegedly prejudicial comments.⁷

⁷ Florida law requires that an objection be made with specificity. Further requirements include a motion for mistrial and/or request for a curative instruction. See caselaw cited infra.

Appellant acknowledges this omission in brief, but maintains the arguments are so "thoroughly prejudicial that the fundamental fairness of the proceedings were destroyed." Id. at 23.

The failure of the defendant to object to the allegedly improper comments is fatal. Maggard v. State, 399 So.2d 973, 976 (Fla.) cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1059 (1981); Thomas v. State, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1976); Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978); Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331, 333-34 (Fla. 1978); State v. Cumbie, 380 So.2d 1031(Fla. 1980); Peterson v. State, 376 So.2d 1230, 1235 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); Herzog v. State, infra; See also, Miller v. North Carolina, 583 F.2d 701 (4th Cir. 1978). The foregoing rule must prevail unless the remarks are "so prejudicial to the rights of an accused that neither rebuke nor retraction could eradicate its evil influences." Grant v. State, 194 So.2d 612, 613, n. 1 (Fla. 1967); Herzog v.State, No, September 22, 1983) 61,513 (Fla. [8 FLW 383, 3841. Accord, Wilson v. State, No. 61,365 (Fla. July 21, 1983) [8 FLW 265]; Mason v. State, No. 60,703 (Fla. September 8, 1983) [8 FLW 331, 332].

An example of prejudice requiring reversal can be found in the recent case of <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, No. 60,337 (Fla. August 25, 1983) [8 FLW 306]. The State emphasizes however that in <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, the defense objected, moved for mistrial <u>and</u> requested a cautionary instruction thereby preserving the point for appellate review. <u>Id</u>. at 307. Considering the tone of this Court's opinion in <u>Teffeteller</u>, the "inexcusable prosecutorial overkill" may have constituted fundamental error, however, the point was not addressed

as review was properly preserved. Id. at 307.

The State submits the comments challenged herein were not sufficiently prejudicial to constitute fundamental error whereby established procedural requirements must be waived. The allegedly "vituperative characterizations" analogized Appellant to a "shark", a "predator", a "savage", a "sinner", a "devil", a "rat", "worse than an animal". The three murders were compared to a "frenzy of killing" and to "blood much like the frenzy of sharks attacking a wounded and bleeding animal". The killers, including Appellant, were referred to as "vicious"; "a pack of wolves". (See initial brief, pp. 19-20). Appellant's counsel acknowledged such characterizations were "argumentative phrase(s)--that's all it is." (T1685) We also note the trial court's comment that this was the first conviction of this sort in Duval County since re-enactment of the death penalty. (R281).

Considerable latitude is allowed a prosecutor in closing argument and logical inferences based on the record are permissible. <u>Thomas</u> <u>v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1976); <u>Paramore v. State</u>, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1969); <u>Gosney v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 413 (Fla. 5th DCA 1976). Moreover, closing argument must be viewed in its entirety under Florida law. Wingate v. State, 232 So.2d 44, 45 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974).

In <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976), the prosecutor referred to the defendant as an animal. Refusing to reverse, this Court declared that each case of allegedly improper comment must be reviewed individually and on its own merit. When the Darden comments were viewed in their totality, ample evidence supporting the comments was found to exist.

In Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), this Court

rejected arguments similar to those presented herein. <u>Id</u>. at 7-8. The prosecutor referred to other criminal acts (rape), called the defendant an animal and appealed to community prejudice with references to violence in Dade County, Florida. Unlike this cause, Breedlove objected and moved for a mistrial. The trial judge refused the request due to the context of the remarks. Upon review, this Court concluded that "some of the remarks may have been improper, but we do not find them so prejudicial that a new trial is required." <u>Id</u>. at 8.

In his closing argument in this case, the prosecutor referred to Appellant's statement to law enforcement authorities as well as to the trial testimony. In pointing out the contradictions between Appellant's statements and those of his accomplices, some of whom testified as state witnesses, the prosecutor recounted the testimony, and at times, expressed his belief.⁸ The prosecutor, in his fashion, was questioning whether the witness or the defendant was to be believed. (T 1523) We submit the remarks were comments upon the contradictory testimony and when viewed in their entirety were harmless. Compare, Arline v. State, 303 So.2d 37 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974) (The prosecutor stated: And I would ask you to find in your heart as I have found in mine in the past months as I have prepared for this case. . . that the defendant committed this heinous crime). The State emphasizes that objections were not entered to of these remarks.

⁸ A review of the record does not reveal expression of personal belief for each transcription cite specified by the defense. (See initial brief, p. 20; compare T 1520, 1522, 1523, 1526, 1530, 1543).

The comments upon the ages of the young victims: Nancy Sheppard, who had just turned seventeen, and Jody Dalton, who was twenty-one years old, were nothing more than comments upon the evidence adduced at trial. Such latitude is afforded in closing argument. <u>Wingate v. State; Paramore</u>. Again there was no objection or notice of dissatisfaction voiced by Appellant. <u>State v. Cumbie</u>, Castor v. State; <u>Clark v. State</u>.

Appellant argues that the prosecutor clearly misstated the law in regard to coercion being a defense to murder. (See initial brief, p. 21). Again we note that an objection was not entered. However the prosecutor's comment was not an attempt to instruct the jury as to the law of the case. (T 1538-1541) The prosecutor clearly indicated to the jury that the judge would instruct the law (T 1537, 1538) The reference was to the theory of principle participant versus an aider and abettor. Appellant cites Wright v. State, 402 So.2d 498 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) which specifically supports the 493, prosecutor's comment: duress is not a defense to intentional homicide. In Wright, the Third District does not address the applicability of this principle to felony murder -- nor should this Court as it was not raised below. We note however that the State did not proceed on a felony murder theory as to all three homicides. (T 1209-1229)

The comment concerning defense counsel made during the closing of the penalty phase is as follows:

[By Mr. Austin]

. . . And I thank you on behalf of Mr. Greene and plus for your attention here today because I have been talking a long time and I am not apoligizing for that because I have a duty to do

that and I don't apologize for it. But I know I sat here and I am watching, you have been alert and attentive and you have listened to me and I appreciate that. And I want you to listen to Mr. Shore [Defense counsel]. <u>Mr. Shore is doing</u> the best he can with a bad situation, and listen to him and give attention to his argument.

(T 1658) (emphasis added). We submit this comment is not prejudicial and did not cast dispersion upon the defense or to defense trial tactics. See <u>Harich v. State</u>, No. 62,366 (Fla. August 25, 1983) [8 FLW 309,311]; <u>Cochran v. State</u>, 280 So.2d 42 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972). The State also submits that as in <u>Cochran</u>, there is ample evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Appellant is unsuccessful in his attempts to convince this Court that the "recommendations of death for symbolic value" rise to fundamental error requiring reversal. The cases cited by Appellant are clearly distinguishable. In <u>Chavez v. State</u>, 215 So.2d 750 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968), the jury was told that narcotics activity would continue if the defendant was acquitted.

> This is your community. If you believe that Deputy Booth is lying on that witness stand, if you think he's mistaken then you come in with a verdict of an acquittal and let him go back out in your community and handle more morphine.

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